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MANAGEMENT SUMMARY

In May of 1998, the National Park Service and the University of Maryland entered into a
cooperative agreement to locate, identify, and evaluate any archeological resources that might be
impacted by the construction of a proposed parking lot to the east of Stone House, within
Manassas National Battlefield Park, Prince William County, Virginia. As part of this project,
archeologists with the University of Maryland evaluated a feature encountered during a tree
planting in the east yard of Stone House in 1993. Archeologists also surveyed the western yard
of Stone House for any features associated with the antebellum occupation of the property.

Archeologists from the University of Maryland surveyed the field to the east of Stone House in
advance of proposed construction of a parking lot. In the western portion of this project area a
sheet midden dating to the early- twentieth century was identified and sampled. Archeologists
placed three 5 ft x 5 ft and three 2.5 ft x 5 ft excavation units in this area. Due to the intense
artifact deposits encountered in these excavation units, an estimated 40% sample of this deposit
was recovered. In addition to this midden deposit, a metal detector survey conducted in the field
to the east of Stone House revealed a concentration of Civil War battle-related debris (Reeves
2000).

In conjunction with the survey of the field to the east of Stone House, a feature in the east yard of
Stone House was investigated. The feature in the eastern yard of Stone House, initially
uncovered during a tree planting in 1993, turned out to be a late nineteenth-century drainage
trench that intruded into a sheet midden from the 1860s and 1870s. Four 5 ft x 5 ft and one 2.5 ft
x 5 ft excavation units were placed in the area of this trench feature. These excavation units
allowed for the recovery of the portion of the feature likely to be impacted by the growth of the
newly planted tree.

Archeologists surveyed the western yard of Stone House in order to locate and identify
antebellum resources present in the area. This survey involved a ground penetrating radar
(GPR) survey and testing of a limited number of anomalies revealed by the survey. Testing of
these anomalies involved the excavation of 13 2.5 ft x 2.5 ft excavation units, three 5 ft x 5 ft
excavation units, and one 2.5 ft x 5 ft excavation unit. These excavation units resulted in the
identification of several twentieth-century utility lines and late nineteenth-century deposits.
While survey in the western yard of Stone House did not reveal any antebellum cultural
resources, the survey demonstrated that nineteenth-century features were intact in this portion of
the yard. These features demonstrate that despite the intensive use of Stone House during the
twentieth century, the potential exists for antebellum features to be present in this portion of the
yard.

Based on the results of this archeological survey, construction activity associated with the
parking lot may proceed within the boundaries of the proposed area for the parking lot. The
survey of the yard of Stone House revealed the presence of in-situ nineteenth-century deposits
related to the occupation of Stone House. While these cultural resources will not be disturbed by
the construction of the parking lot, future ground-disturbing work in the area of Stone House
should take into consideration the sensitivity of the area.
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CHAPTER 1
INTRODUCTION

Matthew Reeves

In 1998, Manassas National Battlefield Park and the Federal Highway Administration began
planning for a series of visitor access improvements to the park. These improvements include
the construction of paved parking areas in several areas of the park that will allow access and
parking for tour buses and multiple vehicles. In addition, this construction includes changes in
access to waysides and exhibits to facilitate visitor safety. A major concern for visitor safety
revolves around the increased volume and speed of commuter traffic that moves through the park
along Routes 29 and 234. Part of these highway improvements includes the construction of a
parking lot in the field to the east of Stone House along with a handicap-access ramp between the
parking lot and the eastern yard of Stone House. Section 106 mandates that any activities that
have the potential to impact cultural resources on federal land requires archeological survey and
assessment of the resources present in the area. To satisfy this mandate, the National Capital
Region entered into a cooperative agreement with the University of Maryland to survey and
evaluate the archeological resources present in areas to be affected by Federal Highway
Improvements proposed for Manassas National Battlefield Park. In addition to the survey and
evaluation study conducted in areas to be affected by proposed highway improvements, the
National Capital Region Archeology Program also included survey and evaluation studies for
areas of the Stone House site that had a high potential to contain archeological deposits related to
the antebellum occupation of the property. This included a potential feature located in the
eastern yard of Stone House and the western yard of Stone House.

From the survey work at Stone House, archeologists recovered deposits associated with three of
the six households that occupied Stone House. The information derived from historical,
archeological and oral history research addressed several research questions including: a detailed
household history of Stone House, land use of the property through time, the potential presence
of archeological resources in the western portion of the yard, and the household possessions and
activities of residents of Stone House during the nineteenth and twentieth centuries.
Archeological testing and impact assessment complied with the National Historic preservation
Act of 1966, as amended.

The historical research on Stone House revealed details about the six households that occupied
the Stone House property from the 1830s to 1947. During its initial occupancy, the Stone House
property saw a variety of uses related to the operation of the Fauquier and Alexandria turnpike.
Research indicates that the Clarkes were the first household to occupy the Stone House property
and were likely responsible for building Stone House in the late 1840s. This family established
turnpike services, including a wagon stand and stagecoach tavern, to serve travelers. In 1850s,
the most renowned residents of Stone House, the Matthews, bought the property and occupied
the structure until 1866. During their occupancy, the Matthews appear to have continued to
operate a tavern out of Stone House. With turnpike traffic being drawn off with the construction
of railroad lines, the Matthews likely catered to more local clientele and relied on farming for
their survival. Eventually, the Matthews, too, sold Stone House in order to purchase more
favorable agricultural land only a mile to the north.
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Figure 1.2. Map showing location of Stone House at Manassas National Battlefield Park.
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The next occupants of Stone House, the Starbucks, continued to cater to travelers, but this time
directed their services at curious visitors and veterans coming to see the former battlefield.
Similar to the Matthews, the Starbucks also farmed the land and produced a number of cash
crops to support their household. In the mid to late 1870s, the Starbucks fell into financial
hardship and were forced to sell the Stone House property to the Pridmores, who appear to have
leased the property prior to their purchasing Stone House. Unlike earlier occupants of Stone
House, the Pridmores did not attempt to establish any commercial enterprises directed at
travelers. The Pridmores relied primarily on farming and occupied the property until the death of
the owner, Benson Pridmore, in 1902.

With the death of Benson Pridmore, the Ayres purchased Stone House and occupied the property
for close to 50 years. The first generation of Ayres established several commercial enterprises,
including a post office, a blacksmith shop, a store, and a stable— all directed at the local
agricultural community. The second generation, while initially continuing to operate these local
commercial enterprises, switched the service focus back to travelers with the opening of a
restaurant and a gas station. Oral history conducted with one early twentieth-century resident of
Stone House, Mrs. Asenath Gulick (daughter of George and Mary Ayres), revealed many details
of life at Stone House and the local area.

The authors have synthesized the archeological resources, historical information, and oral history
of Stone House in this volume. A detailed household history of Stone House, based on
documentary, photographic, and oral history is presented in Chapter 2. Following the history,
household land use at Stone House is presented in Chapter 3. The shovel test pit (stp) and metal
detector survey of the field to the east of Stone House is used to analyze the use of this area by
Stone House occupants in Chapter 4. GPR survey conducted in the western yard of Stone House
allowed for the documentation of hundreds of potential features. Chapter 5 presents an analysis
of the anomalies. Chapter 6 provides an overview of the stratigraphic record of excavation units
placed at Stone House. The results of the minimum vessel analysis of glass and ceramic vessels
recovered from excavation units at Stone House is presented in Chapter 7. Chapter 8
summarizes the findings of this study and presents recommendations for the management of the
cultural resources present at Stone House.
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CHAPTER 2
HOUSEHOLD HISTORY OF STONE HOUSE
Matthew Reeves

Background
Settlement and Agricultural Expansion

In the early eighteenth century, the lands of Prince William County, Virginia, were part of an
area known as the Northern Neck. Robert “King” Carter was very influential in the early
settlement of the region; most of Prince William County was under his control. In the 1720s he
set aside close to 100,000 acres for his heirs (Works Progress Administration [WPA] 1941:26).
He divided this land mass into tracts that he leased to individuals for settlement. The Bull Run
Tract, Lower Bull Run Tract (acquired in 1724) and the Middle Bull Run Tract (acquired in
1729) encompassed the area that is now Manassas National Battlefield (Joseph 1996b:3.2;
McCartney 1992:17).

By 1730, Prince William County was established and included present day Prince William,
Fairfax, Fauquier, Loudoun, and Arlington counties (McCartney 1992:15; Neville et al.
1995:25). Most European settlements were concentrated along the banks of rivers and navigable
streams, since the interior portions of the county, such as the present-day Manassas area, lacked a
network of transportation routes (Netherton 1978:30). Dumfries Road, leading from Dumfries to
the mountains around Ashby, served as the main road leading to the present-day Manassas area
during this time (McCartney 1992:15-17; Ray 1987:12). With increasing competition for land
in the tidewater, the Piedmont portion of Prince William County began to be settled by the mid-
eighteenth century. Compared with the tidewater region, however, Prince William County was
still a frontier environment (Kulikoff 1986:142).

Gradual settlement of the Northern Neck necessitated that the legislature establish political
boundaries to oversee legal disputes, crop inspection, and land development. Dumfties, the
closest settlement to present-day Manassas, served as the county seat from 1762 to the end of the
eighteenth century (WPA 1941).

Agricultural production in the present-day Manassas area began in earnest during the third
quarter of the eighteenth century. However, large landholders dominated the agricultural
enterprise from this time until the second quarter of the nineteenth century. The Carter family
rent books list only five renters for the Bull Run Tract (McCartney 1992:19). Robert Carter’s
grandsons, Landon Carter II and John Carter, had plantations on Bull Run tracts by the mid-
eighteenth century; by 1760, each brother had established a residence for themselves and was
working the land (W.P.A 1941:158). The Carter brothers’ estates marked the northernmost
extension of the family’s landholdings at the time.

Enslaved Africans provided labor for crop production in Prince William County. By the time
settlers moved into western and northern Prince William County in the mid-eighteenth century,
planters of the tidewater regions of Virginia had relied upon the labor of enslaved Africans for
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more than fifty years (Mullin 1972; Kulikoff 1986:41). Slaves occupied a wide variety of labor
roles including field laborers, personal servants, artisans, and mechanics (Mullin 1972).

The majority of the enslaved laborers worked as field laborers with tasks being determined by
crop type. Grains became the predominant crop produced in both Virginia and Prince William
County by the third quarter of the eighteenth century (Mullin 1972:128; Harrison 1987:403). In
his diary, Landon Carter of Sabine Hall mentions his sons, John Carter of Sudley and Landon
Carter of Pittsylvania, producing grains (Green 1987:132, 458). By the early nineteenth century,
crops of the Piedmont were highly diversified with plantation workers producing several types of
grains, raising livestock and maintaining orchards. This made for an agricultural cycle with very
little downtime and periods during harvest and plantings when planters expected a large amount
of labor from their enslaved population (Schlotterbeck 1995:171). Despite the intensive labor
required to maintain these plantations, slaveholding size tended to be small with 15 slaves or less
residing on an estate. These smaller residential groupings of enslaved laborers are in stark
contrast to the larger enslaved villages established on plantations to the south, such as in South
Carolina and Georgia, during this same time period (Morgan 1998)

With the growth of a grain-based economy, mills became an important part of the rural
infrastructure. By the 1760s, John Carter had built a mill complex along Catharpin Run to
process the area’s grains and lumber (Conner 1975). By the end of the century, 50 water-
powered grist and saw mills were operating in the county (Prince William County Historical
Commission 1982:13).

The rise in agricultural production in the late eighteenth century spurred the development of a
network of roads in the area. The most important variable for the growth of roads in the Bull
Run area was the shifting of trade from Dumfries to Alexandria, Virginia. Until the late
eighteenth century, most agricultural products were shipped to Dumfries for export (Harrison
1987:408; Conner 1975). By the late eighteenth century, the build-up of silt in Dumfries’ port
and its continued reliance on a tobacco-based export system led farmers to use alternative ports.
During this time, Alexandria was becoming a major economic link for national and international
trade (Joseph 1996b:3.4; McCartney 1992:18; Harrison 1987:409). The reliance on Alexandria
as an export center created the need for roads to the east. The construction of the Fauquier and
Alexandria Turnpike was built to meet this need and spurred a wide array of economic
development in the region (Figure 2.1).
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Several court cases and contracts document the lengthy construction period of the turnpike. The
contract for the Fauquier and Alexandria Turnpike was initiated in 1812. George Britton was
contracted to pave the first ten miles of the road leading from the Little River Turnpike at Fairfax
Court House to Bull Run (Wilshin 1961:47). As evidenced by a plat drawn in 1815, further work
on the turnpike extended it past Dogan’s Hill, about two miles west of its intersection with
Sudley Mills Road (Prince William County Land Claims [PWCLC]3:117). However, William
Cundiff, a local resident, filed a complaint with Prince William County in 1821, alleging that the
stretch of the road between Dogan’s Hill and Bull Run was “unfit for a Turnpike” (in Wilshin
1961:49). Concerned citizens of Warrenton offered further evidence for the poor condition of the
road after its opening. They wrote a petition to the Board of Public works in 1823 complaining
that the roadbed was in such poor condition that travelers used fields and open woods in lieu of
the road whenever possible. In addition, the grade of the road was not sufficient to allow wagons
with a full load to pass (Board of Public Works [B.P.W.] in Wilshin 1961:55).

Evidently these complaints did not fall upon deaf ears, since the Fauquier and Alexandria
Turnpike Company performed substantial improvements on the turnpike between November of
1823 and October of 1824. By the end of this time period, the road had been “relaid upon the
McAdam plan” and a “new and substantial Stone Bridge” was erected across Bull Run (BPW in
Wilshin 1961:57). The company also established toll gates along the road at five mile intervals.
The intersection of Sudley Mill Road with the Turnpike served as the third toll gate 15 miles
from Fairfax.

The turnpikes were used for three general forms of transport: 1) the herding of livestock, 2) the
transport of agricultural goods by wagons, 3) and the transport of people by stagecoach.
Correspondingly, three different types of service facilities sprang up along the pikes to satisfy the
different needs of these groups. Drovers’ taverns provided broad open areas to rest cattle and
sheep. Wagon stands served the needs of wagoneers by providing fodder for the animal teams.
Both drover taverns and wagon stands focused more on the needs of the animals rather than
providing comfortable facilities for the drivers and wagoneers (Holmes and Rohrback 1983).

Stagecoach taverns met the needs of travelers along the turnpikes. These taverns often catered to
specific stagecoach companies and provided food and lodging for their patrons. These taverns
were by no means lavish; they provided group meals at set times during the day and had limited
capacity for sleeping. On stagelines whose roads were sufficient to allow travel during the night,
stagecoaches would stop only for a few hours and then depart (Holmes and Rohrbach 1983:157).
Often a tavern keeper owned land in association with the tavern and provided food from the
resources of their farm. One traveler, in 1816, described the status of country tavern keepers:

The innkeepers of America are, in most villages, ... field officers of militia, with good
farms attached to their taverns.. They are apt to think...that the travelers rather receive,
than confer a favour by being accommodated in their homes (Francis Hall 1816 in
Holmes and Rohrback 1983:149).
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By providing much of the food for the establishment, the tavern functioned through the labor of
the entire household. Contemporary sources credit the degree of hospitality of a tavern to the
nature of the innkeeper’s house. Many widows continued to run turnpike establishments after
the death of their husbands (Searight 1834 in Holmes and Rohrbach 1983:151).

Interestingly, the proprietors of these taverns were often prominent members of the community.
In order to establish themselves as a tavern keeper, an individual had to present themselves to the
local court and provide witness to their character. The court would then issue them a license for
public entertainment granting the authority to serve liquor. The court issued one such license to
John D. Dogan of Rosefield since the court was satisfied that “the said John D. Dogan is a man
of good character and not addicted to drunkeness or gambling” (Prince William County Court
Minutes [PWCCM] 1842:284). Dogan also personified the typical tavern keeper; he was captain
of a local militia and in many court documents he is referred to as such.

Despite the prominence of tavern keepers, the interior of the establishments was often stark at
best and featured,

The furniture of the bar-room is invariably the same, a wooden clock, map of the United
States, map of the State, the Declaration of Independence, a looking glass, with a hair-
brush and comb hanging to it by strings, pro bono publica... (Marryat 1839 in Holmes and
Rohrbach 1983:152)

Despite their austerity, taverns served as the hub for community socializing. Tavern keepers
were the first to receive news from abroad and often received papers only a few days old
(Holmes and Rohrbach 1983:152). Advertisements covered the walls along with community
announcements.

Stagecoach taverns also served as relay stops for the stagecoach teams and the services tavern
keepers provided to these teams often served as the most lucrative part of the business. During
the 1830s, an average tavern keeper would earn $350 per annum for the care of a coach team and
driver (Holmes and Rohrbach 1983:147). Relay taverns would have between two and four teams
available for hire to stagecoach companies.

While turnpikes stimulated local growth in the form of taverns and other service-based activities,
they also had a wider impact on the regional economy and population settlement. The
development of a road network in northern Prince William County allowed for the expansion of
the area’s population. The establishment of towns such as Buckland (1796), Haymarket (1799),
and Centreville (1792) provide evidence for this growth (McCartney 1992:18; Harrison
1987:665). Coinciding with the growth of towns and turnpikes during the antebellum period,
patterns of land ownership in the Manassas/Sudley area changed drastically between the federal
and antebellum eras. During the eighteenth century and into the early nineteenth century, large
landholders who owned large populations of enslaved laborers, such as the Carters, dominated
agriculture in the area (Stevenson 1996:173). By the second quarter of the nineteenth century,
the number of large land holdings had decreased. Often, this occurred when heirs divided up
large land holdings. The division of Landon Carter’s estate of Pittsylvania is a prime example of
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this process. By 1810, his two sons, Wormley and John F. Carter, had divided the former estate,
and Wormley had sold portions of his estate to pay off debts (Joseph 1996b:3.6). The sale or
lease of these smaller plots of land allowed individuals of lesser means to create homesteads and
farms.

With the change in land ownership patterns came a shift in land-management strategies as well.
Many farms contained plots that were not only smaller but also suffered from severe erosion
resulting from close to a century of poor soil conservation. Facing limitations on land
production, farmers diversified their grain crops and engaged in agricultural improvements such
as crop rotation, the use of plows, and fertilization with manures and lime (Little 1995:148,;
Neville et al. 1995). Several small landowners in the Manassas/Sudley area, such as the
Matthews, Newmans, and Van Pelts, used these approaches to increase agricultural production
(Joseph 1996b:3.13). These efforts allowed crop production to continue in areas where poor
farming practices of the past century had depleted topsoil. Along with producing cash crops of
corn, rye, oats, and wheat they also produced dairy products, honey, wool, and various fruit from
orchards (Joseph 1996b:3.13).

The development of a rural infrastructure to serve the needs of local farmers and the turnpike
trade led to smaller settlements, such as Sudley and Groveton, dotting the landscape and
providing centers for the local community. Owners of smaller farms had an increased need for
the specialized services of local craftspeople. Previously, larger landholders had hired or owned
skilled slaves to perform most of the repair and construction on the estate (Kullikoff 1986:413).
Since smaller landowners did not have the resources to own or hire skilled laborers, they sought
the services of local artisans. As a result, millers, craftspeople, and merchants settled along
turnpikes to serve both the local community and travelers. Often, these craftspeople offered their
services for part of the year and spent the remainder of the year working their own land.
Multiple sources of household income allowed these artisans to survive since their rural clientele
did not provide a large source of income (Daniels 1993:753). However, blacksmiths and
wheelwrights would be guaranteed some work throughout the year by stagecoach and wagon
drivers.

The development of the railroad in the Manassas area spurred regional economic growth. The
Orange and Alexandria Railroad became the first line to serve the area, and ran from
Gordonsville to Tudor Hall (present-day Manassas) and ended in Alexandria (Harrison
1987:588). In 1850, the General Assembly authorized the construction of the Manassas Gap
Railroad to connect with the Orange and Alexandria Railroad at Manassas Junction, bringing the
railroad closer to the area of Stone House (Figure 2.2). The Manassas Gap line passed though
Gainesville to Thoroughfare Gap with a terminus at Strasburg, Virginia (Neville, et al. 1995;
Harrison 1987:589). The line moved agricultural products from the Shenandoah Valley to
Alexandria, Virginia. The railroad not only provided an economic link for the Manassas area,
but it also provided a means for families to move into the region, from both the west and east, in
the same way that the early turnpikes provided conduits for settlement between various parts of
Virginia during the early nineteenth century.

2.6



¥4 GainesvilleD%
‘\

E 0 Bristoe,
0 5 10 Wdgrenton

Scale of Miles atlett's

o Warrenton Jot.

Figure 2.2. Railroads in the area by 1855 (Johnston 1961).

While the railroads brought wider regional development, their growth meant the end of large-
scale transportation on the turnpikes and for the various services that served the turnpikes.
While the roads failed to provide the expected returns for turnpike investors, they continued to
serve the transportation needs of the local community.

By the end of the nineteenth century, counties assumed responsibility for road maintenance.
Often, the upkeep of roads was contracted out to individual farmers within the community. For
example, Benson Pridmore, who owned Stone House from 1880 till the turn of the century,
served as a contractor for road maintenance.

The Civil War and its Aftermath

The development of the railroad in the Manassas area was a catalyst for the area being the
location for two major Civil War battles. With the secession of the southern states in 1860 and
1861, combat between the North and South became unavoidable. Confederate General Robert E.
Lee saw the railroad junction at Manassas as being vulnerable to attack. Since Manassas served
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as the only link to southern supplies, Lee ordered the fortification of the railroad center
(McCartney 1992:23). The threat to rail support was further intensified in May 1861, when
Federal troops occupied Alexandria, Virginia, the terminus of the Orange and Alexandria line.
The Federal occupation forced Confederate forces to withdraw southward to Manassas (WPA
1941:48). This concentration of men at Manassas helped set the stage for the First Battle of
Manassas.

In the First Battle of Manassas, the Confederates defeated the Union Army and dashed their
hopes for a quick invasion of the Confederate capital. The Union forces tried to take the capital
once more during the Peninsular Campaign of 1862. McClellan’s failure to capture Richmond
during this campaign led Federal officials to reorganize their forces under General John Pope,
who led the Union forces during the Second Battle of Manassas. Despite the consolidation of the
Union forces, Pope and his men were defeated at Second Manassas through a combined effort of
Jackson’s hard fighting during August 28 and 29 and Lee and Longstreet’s victory over Union
lines on the 30™ (WPA 1941:51; McCartney 1992:29; Hennessy 1993).

After the Civil War, agricultural production recovered slowly in the Manassas area. Many farms,
such as Brownsville, had been occupied by both Union and Confederate troops and both crops
and the existing agricultural infrastructure had been destroyed (Parker and Hernigle 1990:24;
McCartney 1992:55; Trowbridge 1866; Joseph 1996b). In addition, large landholders who had
formerly relied on enslaved labor had no means to rebuild their farms or begin crop production.
Because of these factors, farmers did not pursue the production of large-scale crops for several
years and scrub vegetation covered much of the region’s farmland (Trowbridge 1866:86). In
place of large-scale crop production, local residents reverted to subsistence crop production and
the raising of livestock (McCartney 1992:36).

From 1865 to 1870, Virginia was under military rule, overseen by General John M. Schofield
(WPA 1941:54). The Constitutional Convention of 1867 reorganized the state government. This
convention created the Underwood Constitution that mandated the use of boards of supervisors
for county administration and the establishment of a school system whose state support and
attendance was mandatory (WPA 1941:54; McCartney 1992:36). The Underwood Constitution
also stipulated that African Americans had the right to vote. With a potential voting population
that nearly equaled the white population, 27 of the 120 delegates elected to the Virginia General
Assembly in 1869 were African Americans (Buni 1967:1). By the fourth quarter of the
nineteenth century, however, the General Assembly had effectively removed African-Americans’
right to vote.

By 1870, Reconstruction had ended in Virginia and agricultural production had resumed. In the
Manassas area there were drastic changes in the land tenure system, since many parcels of land
had been divided among family members or sold as lots (Joseph 1996b:3.28). Many individuals
worked the land on a tenant basis (Joseph 1996b:3.26). One African-American family, the
Robinsons, took advantage of the sale of local lands in Manassas and acquired a sizeable plot of
land (Parsons et al., in prep.). Most farms of the time period averaged around 150 acres and were
modest operations (Joseph 1996b:3.28).
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The last quarter of the nineteenth century saw a dramatic increase in the population of Prince
William County from approximately 7,000 in 1880 to 11,000 by 1900 (WPA 1941:55). Several
factors contributed to this growth. First, the rail system in the county expanded as previously
separate railroad companies were consolidated into larger rail lines (Eleventh Annual Report of
the Railroad Commissioner of the State of Virginia 1887). This increased the network of the rail
lines and brought more rail traffic to Manassas. Second, the incorporation of Manassas in 1873
helped create an infrastructure such as a town council and schools. In 1893, Jennie Dean
chartered the Manassas Industrial School for African-Americans (Simmons 1986:42). Manassas
grew into an economic hub and the County moved the seat from Brentsville to Manassas in 1893
(WPA 1941:55). The growth of Manassas brought employment opportunities to an area
previously dominated by agricultural pursuits.

The late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries was a time of social changes as well. By the
early twentieth century, African Americans also felt racial exclusion in the segregation of mass
transit, schools, and public facilities (WPA 1940:268). This racial exclusion intensified during
the period from 1890 to 1910 (Jones 1985:147). During this period the Jim Crow laws legally
mandated a segregated society (Gilmore 1996). The lynching of black men and sexual violence
against black women occurred with greater frequency. These activities appear to be a response
by portions of the white community to the economic advances made by African Americans since
the Civil War. The legalization of discriminatory practices served as a formal replacement for
enforced servitude thrust upon African Americans during slavery (Jones 1985:151).

With the social and economic changes of the early twentieth century, several groups set about to
commemorate the activities surrounding the Civil War in an organized manner. Prior to this time
period, visitation to battlefields, such as Manassas, was accomplished through informal
arrangements with local individuals. For example, in his tour of Manassas Battlefield in 1866,
Trowbridge, a traveling author of the time, was transported from Manassas Junction to the
battlefield in a former Union ambulance. The driver stated the he obtained the ambulance to earn
a living taking visitors to the battlefield (Trowbridge 1866:84). Throughout the late nineteenth
and early twentieth century, other visitors paid local farmers to bring them about the battlefield.

One of the earliest and largest events was the Peace Jubilee of 1911. The Peace Jubilee
celebrated the fiftieth anniversary of the First Battle of Manassas. During this event, ten
thousand people came to hear speeches and see Confederate and Union veterans shake hands
(Zenzen 1998:6). During the early twentieth century, several veterans’ groups staged
encampments in the Manassas Battlefield area. These meetings were an opportunity for veteran
groups to reminisce and discuss plans for battlefield commemoration (Zenzen 1998:10). Out of
these meetings came the call for a battlefield park at Manassas. The first such park was the
Manassas Battlefield Confederate Park established in the 1920s by the Sons of Confederate
Veterans (SCV). This park encompassed the lands of Henry Farm and used the farm house as an
informal museum. In the 1930s, the U.S. Government began to purchase lands associated with
the First Battle of Manassas and by 1935 it had acquired more than 1400 acres which became
known as the Bull Run Recreational Demonstration Area. In 1940, the SCV donated the
Confederate Park to the National Park Service. In 1940, the Secretary of the Interior created
Manassas National Battlefield Park out of these two tracts (Zenzen 1998:20-24).
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History of Stone House Property Occupation
Carter Ownership, 1750s-1828

The northern and southeastern portions of the intersection and project area were originally part of
the Pittsylvania tract owned by Landon Carter. During the late eighteenth and early nineteenth
century, Pittsylvania was a large agricultural estate with a population of nearly 100 enslaved
laborers. Upon his death in 1801, Landon Carter bequeathed all his Prince William County lands
to his son Wormley Carter (Prince William County Will Book [PWCWB] H:450). During his
tenure, Wormley Carter amassed debts and sold around 700 acres of his share of the 2000 acre
Pittsylvania tract (Joseph 1996a:3-4). When Wormley Carter died in 1815, his executors sold
184 acres to pay his debts and divided the remainder of the lands equally among his children
(PWCWB K:440). In 1815, the Prince William County Court appointed a commission to divide
Wormley’s lands in accordance with his will (Prince William County Land Cause Book 3:67)
(see Figure 2.3). This action resulted in the division of much of the lands encompassing the
project area. The project area consists of two of these plots including: 1) Lot #5, a 125 acre plot
making up the northeast and southeast corner of the intersection that was given to Thomas
Ottoway Carter, and 2) Lot #3, a 160 acre plot making up the northwest quadrant of the
intersection that was given to Kitty Carter. Four years after receiving her land, Kitty Carter
passed away and by the 1840s her land had passed into the hands of John D. Dogan. Of these
two lots of land, the history of Lot #5 has had the largest impact on the development of the
intersection.

When Thomas Ottoway Carter received his share of the inheritance from his father, Wormley
Carter, he was listed as an infant (PWCDB K:440). While local legends claim that Thomas
Ottoway Carter built Stone House, there is no documentary evidence for any structures existing
on Thomas O. Carter’s land during his tenure of the property. Tax lists, from the time period
1818-1828, list his land as being along Young’s Branch with no structures added to the land’s
assessed value (Prince William County Land Tax [PWCLT] 1818-1828). In 1819, the land tax
lists Thomas Carter as living “On Premises”, meaning Pittsylvania. At that time, Thomas was
still a minor, and his father, Wormley Carter, had died four years earlier (Beasley 2001:41). The
same year of Wormley Carter’s death, the family home of Rosefield was sold and the remaining
children likely moved to the ancestral home of Pittsylvania. If we are to use the listing of
Thomas O. Carter as an infant in 1815 as an indicator of his age, then, when Thomas Carter sold
the land in 1828 he must have been in his late teens. When the Warrenton and Alexandria
turnpike was put through in the 1810s, the area of Buck Hill and Matthews Hill was part of the
working plantation of Pittsylvania, and did not have any built structures worthy of being assessed
on the tax list. In 1828, Thomas O. Carter sold his 158 acre plot extending from present day
Matthews Hill down to Youngs Branch to John Lee (PWCDB 11:330).
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Lee Ownership and Clarke Occupation, 1828-1850

When John Lee bought the Buck Hill tract from Thomas O. Carter in 1828, he was an
established landowner who owned over 450 acres containing buildings assessed at $3000
(PWCLT 1829). His home, Willow Green, was located to the south of Manassas Battlefield at
New Market. By the time Lee bought the property, the Warrenton and Alexandria Turnpike was
in full operation. Less than two years after acquiring the land, John Lee constructed a building(s)
assessed at $150 (PWCLT 1830). This structure might be the wagon stand (discussed later in
this chapter) operated by Mary “Polly” Clarke and referred to in a letter by A.L. Henry (Henry
1931). Lee’s purchase of the land might have been a combined agricultural and commercial
investment.

John Lee added land to his Buck Hill tract over the next ten years. In 1836, he bought 230 acres
from the heirs of Elizabeth Carter, daughter of Landon Carter. The land was adjacent to the
Buck Hill tract and south of Youngs Branch. Later, in 1840, he sold a 170 acre tract, south of the
turnpike, to James Robinson and retained 60 acres south of Youngs Branch and north of the
turnpike (PWCDB 16:223). At the time that Lee sold the land to Robinson, he owned over 1000
acres in the area, in addition to 28 slaves (PWCLT 1840; USBC 1840). The bulk of this land
was probably used for agricultural purposes since the only tracts that contained buildings were
his Willow Green tract on Flat Run and the Buck Hill tract (PWCLT 1840).

While the land records make it clear that John Lee was a prominent landowner in Prince William
County, there is less tangible information regarding his family. In the 1840 Federal Census, John
Lee’s household is listed as consisting of 26 slaves, eight of whom were involved in agricultural
work and two who were involved in manufacturing (USBC 1840). Based on the absence of any
other white or mulatto individuals in this census entry, John Lee did not appear to have any white
or mulatto children who resided with him.

The family status of John Lee, however, becomes clearer in his will, recorded in 1848. Since
wills are the written guidelines for the dispersal of one’s debts and assets, they serve as an
excellent barometer of family relationships. Often wills provide the only means for establishing
the parental status of illegitimate children. Through his will, John Lee bequeathed all his land
and possessions to Richard Clarke, Thomas Ottoway Clarke, Solomon Clarke, John Clarke,
William H. Clarke, Mary Ellen Lee (wife of Matthew A. Lee), and Jane Matilda Matthew (wife
of Henry P. Matthew). As stated in his will, all of these individuals were the children of Mary
“Polly” Clarke (PWCWB 1850:367). John Lee’s will also states that Mary Clarke was to have
life-time interest in:

the House and one acre of land adjoining said house on the north side of the paved road
and also the garden on the south side of said road, during her natural life, and no longer,
the said house + one acre of land, and garden being part of the tract of land herin (sic)
bequeathed to Thomas O Clarke and John Clarke. (PWCWB P:370).

Given the lay of John Lee’s land, this house would have been situated somewhere in the vicinity
of present-day Stone House and the garden to the south between the turnpike and Youngs
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Branch. Historical evidence, from the 1840 Census and the ages of her children, suggest that
Mary Clarke resided at this structure as early as the 1830s and that the house is the same
structure listed on the 1830 tax list (USBC 1840; PWCLT 1830).

The 1840 Federal Census lists Mary Polly Clarke’s household as containing 14 members,
comprised of eight whites and six slaves. Of the whites listed, there are five males and three
females. Given Mary as the head of household (listed as aged between 30 and 40 years of age),
the remaining seven, five boys and two girls all under the age of thirty, fit closely with the
individuals listed in John Lee’s will. The other six members of Mary Clarke’s household
consisted of three male slaves between the age of 0 and 10 years and three female slaves between
the ages of 0 and 36 years of age (USBC 1840). A letter written by A.L. Henry in 1931, provides
more details concerning Mary Clarke’s household. Mr. Henry states,

His (Thomas Ottoway Carter) part of Pittsylvania was the Stone House property, but it
seems he soon got rid of it. A woman kept a wagon stand on the pike, who was known
by all as “Miss Polly Clarke” she had a large family, seven in all, but had no husband.
Cousin Ottoway became acquainted with her and as a result there was a Thomas Ottoway
Clarke. Cousin Edwin (Carter) always spoke of him as Thomas O’ Clarke. He built the
present Stone House and he seemed to have more sense that all the others put together
(Henry 1931).

Mr. Henry’s description of Mary Clarke’s family matches that found in the 1840 Census. While
the parental relation between Thomas O. Clarke and Thomas O. Carter is hearsay, the relation
between Mary Clarke and John Lee seems to be substantiated by the inclusion of Mary Clarke
and all her children in John Lee’s will. The likelihood that John Lee was Thomas Clarke’s father
is suggested by the fact that John willed Thomas, along with his brother John, the 260 acre tract
of land containing Buck Hill (Stone House) and Matthews Hill. John Lee also allocated $830 to
Thomas over the course of several years (PWCWB P:370).

If we can use the inclusion of Mary’s children in the will as a reflection of her interactions with
John Lee, the pair appears to have been involved in a stable relationship for around 15 years.
Social historians have noted that the first half of the nineteenth century was marked by more
sexual constraint in the forms of abstention and contraception (Smith 1980:374). The possibility
that Mary Clarke and John Lee produced seven children outside of marriage suggests the active
choice made in their relationship. The status of this relationship must have been public
knowledge since the testimony of A. L. Henry’s letter stated that “she (Mary Clarke) had a large
family, but no husband.” The inheritance of John Lee’s lands and slaves by Mary Clarke’s
children must have served to further emphasize the nature of their relationship to the local
community.

The open act of illegitimacy would probably been looked upon by the community with a critical
eye, especially given the conservative mood of the country during the second quarter of the
nineteenth century. This period was the climax of the second great awakening; moral restraint
was a reaction to the colonial period of relaxed morals and also coincided with the early
Republican period when the United States was trying to establish itself as nation. On the surface
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it would seem that a family such as the Clarkes would be ostracized by the community. Despite
the precarious social position of the family, the children of Mary Clarke seemed to have little
problem in intermarrying within the local community. The immediate family of John Lee
appears to have been very forgiving of his illegitimate relations. In fact, all three children of
John Lee’s uncle, John Dye Lee, married Mary Clarke’s children. These nuptial bonds include
the marriage of Sarah Jane Lee to Thomas Clarke, Adaline M. Lee to John Clarke, and Matthew
A. Lee to Mary E. Clarke. Marriage among second cousins was not uncommon during a time
when one’s marriage partners were picked from a local social pool of limited size, illegitimate
status notwithstanding. Other marriages between the Clarke children and local community
members include Mary Clarke’s daughter, Jane Matilda, to Henry P. Matthew; Henry would later
buy Thomas O. Clarke’s Buck Hill property. While the community status of the Clarke family is
put into question through evidence of their marital relations, it appears that their good standing
was closely tied to the illegitimate patriarch of the family, John Lee. Within five years after John
Lee’s death in 1848, the entire Clarke family appears to have relocated to Shenandoah County to
the west.

Combining the evidence presented in John Lee’s 1848 will, the 1840 Census, and recollections
handed down by Arthur Henry allows us to form a better picture of what was going on in the area
of the Stone House in the 1840s. By 1840, Mary Clarke had been operating a wagon stand along
the Warrenton and Alexandria Turnpike for over ten years while raising her large family. The
presence of this wagon stand in the northeastern quadrant of the intersection is supported by John
Lee’s statement in his will that Mary Clarke’s house was located in part of the tract willed to
Thomas O. Clark; Thomas’s tract was located in the northeastern quadrant of the intersection in
the area of present-day Stone House. A toll keeper’s house, operated by John Sudduth, is also
listed in the 1840 census; this toll house was the third in line from Fairfax Court House. John
Sudduth is listed as being between 50 and 60 years old along with a free white female of the
same age and a male slave under the age of 10.

In addition to households in the immediate area of the intersection, neighboring households also
engaged in turnpike-related commerce. To the west of the intersection, John D. Dogan, while
listed as engaged in agricultural pursuits, held a permit to operate a house of public entertainment
(USBC 1840; PWCMC 1840) . His services were most likely directed to the stagecoaches
traveling along the turnpike. Oral history with the Robinson family conducted by Mia Parsons
and Erika Martin (Parsons, et al. 1995) relates that James Robinson operated a drover’s tavern to
the east. Thus, within a decade of the completion of the turnpike, the intersection boasted
services to all three s